# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NOS. 73,981 & 74,101

THOMAS HARRISON PROVENZANO,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA.

Appellee.

SUMMARY INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON APPEAL OF DENIAL OF MOTION FOR FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.850 RELIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

> LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative

K. LESLIE DELK JULIE D. NAYLOR BRET B. STRAND

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### IMINA STA

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On January 10, 1984, Thomas Provenzano appeared at the Orange County courthouse wearing black combat boots, army fatigue pants, a long olive drab army coat, a red bandana and carrying a knapsack. After being questioned by a bailiff about his knapsack, Mr. Provenzano left the courtroom and returned a few minutes later without it (R. 548).

When his disorderly conduct case was called, Mr. Provenzano began to approach the front of the courtroom but was stopped and told to wait until his attorney arrived (R. 549). Bailiff Dalton was then told by the judge to search Mr. Provenzano (R. 551). When Bailiff Dalton and Correctional Officer Parker approached Mr. Provenzano and began to search him, Mr. Provenzano pulled a pistol out of his pocket and shot Dalton (R. 552).

Parker then went out of the courtroom, followed by Mr. Provenzano. More shots were fired; Parker was eventually wounded, and Biliff Wilkerson was killed (R. 589-91). Mr. Provenzano was also wounded in the gunfire (R. 647).

Mr. Provenzano was charged with one count of first degree murder and two counts of attempted first degree murder. He was convicted by a jury on June 19, 1984. The defense at trial was insanity, and mental health professionals were called and testified about Mr. Provenzano's mental illness. The penalty phase before the jury was conducted on July 11, 1984, and the jury recommended a sentence of death by a seven to five (7-5) vote.

On July 18, 1984, Judge Shepard sentenced Mr. Provenzano to death on the first degree murder conviction and consecutive thirty year sentences for the attempted first degree murder convictions. Mr. Provenzano's convictions and sentences were affirmed by this Court, with two Justices specially concurring. Provenzano v. State, 497 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Provenzano petitioned the United States Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari, which was denied. Provenzano v. Florida, 481 U.S. 1024 (1987).

On March 7, 1989, the Governor of Florida issued a death warrant against Mr. Provenzano, and execution was set for May 9, 1989. Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, Mr. Provenzano filed his Rule 3.850 Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence with the Circuit Court and a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus with this Court on April 6, 1989. This was fifteen days earlier than Rule 3.850 proscribed for the filing of the Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence.

On April 25, 1989, Judge Shepard denied Mr. Provenzano's Motion to Vacate, without an evidentiary hearing. Appeal was taken to this Court. On May 4, 1989, this Court granted a stay of execution, and ordered briefing.

## ARGUMENT

#### ARCHIMENT T

THE RULE 3.850 COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF MR, PROVENZANO'S MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE WAS ERRONEOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT.

The lower court summarily denied Mr. Provenzano's claims without conducting any type of hearing, without adequately discussing whether (and why) the motion failed to state valid claims for Rule 3.850 relief (it does), without any adequate explanation as to whether (and why) the files and records conclusively showed that Mr. Provenzano is entitled to no relief (they do not), and without attaching those portions of the record which conclusively show that Mr. Provenzano is entitled to no relief (the record supports Mr. Provenzano's claims). In this regard the lower court erred.

The lower court's rulings regarding Mr. Provenzano's Rule

3.850 motion were incorrect in several respects, as will be more
fully explained <u>infra</u>. As to competency, the lower court
employed a unique standard of its own:

Defendant was examined by at least four psychiatrists and a competency hearing was held. He was found to be competent. Defendant's Motion alleges that none of these doctors took into account his past history. Defendant's Motion does not allege that his past history evidences mental retardation, organic brain damage or epilepsy. Although the Defendant's Motion is in excess of 260 pages, no where in it does he sufficiently allege that his emotional problems raise to the level of a finding of legal incompetency.

(PC-R. 448). Contrary to the lower court's analysis, Mr.

Provenzano's motion presented specifically pled factual contentions demonstrating that he was in fact <u>not</u> competent at the time of his trial, and that the previous evaluations were insufficient under the standards established by this Court in <u>Mason v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986).

As to ineffective assistance of counsel the lower court stated:

Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel involve alleged errors at both the guilt-innocence phase and the sentencing phase of Defendant's trial.

Most of these allegations involve trial strategy. These include Nos. 3 (b), (f), (h), (i), (j), (o), and (p). Matters involving trial strategy cannot form the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. <a href="Downs v. State">Downs v. State</a>, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984).

(PC-R. 449).

of course, as this Honorable Court's recent precedents make clear, tactics and strategies cannot be read into an attorney's challenged conduct — whether there was a tactic at all is in fact one of the central questions which the evidentiary hearing required in cases such as this is meant to address. Accordingly, the lower court's statements that omissions by counsel were "strategic", a finding supported by no evidence,' is patent error. Clearly the omissions here both at guilt-innocence and penalty were prejudicial. Just as clearly without an evidentiary hearing there is no way of determining whether these omissions

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Because no hearing was conducted.

were because of any tactical or strategic choice by counsel. No hearing was ever granted whereby counsel could be asked his reasons.

Under this Court's well-settled precedents, a Rule 3.850 movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); State v. Crews, 477 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987); Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986); Squires v. State, 513 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1987); Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Mr. Provenzano's motion alleged facts which, if proven, would entitle him to relief. The files and records in his case do not "conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief," and the trial court's summary denial of his motion, without an evidentiary hearing, was therefore erroneous.

Mr. Provenzano's verified Rule 3.850 motion alleged (supported by specific factual proffers) the extensive non-record facts in support of claims which have traditionally been raised by sworn allegations in Rule 3.850 post-conviction proceedings and tested through evidentiary hearings. Mr. Provenzano is entitled to an evidentiary hearing with respect to these claims: the files and records in the case by no means conclusively show that he will necessarily <u>lose</u>. Even if that was what the lower court judge believed, in such instances the judge must attach "a

copy of that portion of the files and records which conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief . . . "Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Lemon, supra. Otherwise, an evidentiary hearing is proper. The lower court attached no portion of the record. In fact, there is none. This case involves nonrecord matters that have been classically tested through evidentiary hearings. A court may not simply attribute tactical reasons to trial counsel when there is no record evidence of such.

The circuit court erred in denying an evidentiary hearing and in summarily denying Mr. Provenzano's motion to vacate. The circuit court, in its order denying relief, applied erroneous standards to the questions of competency and ineffective assistance of counsel. Facts not of record are at issue in this case; such facts cannot be resolved now by this Court, as there is no record to review.

The circuit court also ruled:

Matters litigated on direct appeal may not be attacked by a Motion for Post-Conviction relief. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 479 So. 2d 864 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). These include Nos. 2; 3(c), (d), (e), (n), (q); 4(e), 7, 10, 12, 13 and 14.

Matters which should have or could have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in post-conviction relief proceedings. <u>Porter v. State</u>, 478 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1985). These include Nos. 6, 8, 9, 15, 16 and 17.

(PC-R. 447). Since the court was incorrect regarding which issues were "raised on direct appeal" and which "should have been," this part of the order is absolutely meaningless.

Morever, the items identified as 3(c), (d), (e), (n), (q) and 4(e) were also raised as ineffective assistance of counsel claims; such claims are clearly cognizable in Rule 3.850 proceedings. Most of the other claims noted by the court also raised questions of counsel's competence. It appears that the court randomly selected claims by numbers to say they either were raised or should have been raised on direct appeal. The circuit court was in error.

The court also addressed Claim XVI, the violation of Booth v. Maryland claim on the merits, stating: "[t]he sentencing order entered by this court shows that there was no reliance on the victim-impact statement," (PC-R. 447). The sentencing order, however, does not support the judge's statements in this regard. When it is so clearly established that a capital defendant has a fundamental right to a fair, reliable and individualized capital sentencing determination, see Greaa v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976); Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976); Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1976); Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862 (1983); Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985); Mills v. Marvland, 108 S. Ct. 1860 (1988), the introduction of any improper information that might have affected the sentencing outcome cannot be deemed harmless. Particulary where, as in this case, the jury recommendation was by the barest of majorities, 7-5 for death, it cannot be said that such information "had no effect" on the jury's decision. The ultimate sentencer, already predisposed to death by an erroneous jury recommendation, was then subjected

to even more victim impact information that injected constitutionally impermissible information into the capital sentencing determination. The lower court erred in its analysis of this claim. This claim is more fully addressed at Argument IV, <u>infra</u>.

As to the remainder of the claims presented by Mr. Provenzano, the lower court's order is unclear. It should be noted that the lower court's numbering of claims does not correspond to Mr. Provenzano's Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence. These claims are also more fully addressed in this brief.

Mr. Provenzano presented valid claims for Rule 3.850 relief. The lower court was asked to determine those questions that needed factual, evidentiary resolution. Instead, the lower court substituted its judgments, judgments unsupported by evidentiary resolution at a hearing, for the standards this Court has established. The trial court's summary denial of Mr. Provenzano's 3.850 motion was erroneous.

Obviously, the question of whether a capital inmate was denied effective assistance of counsel during either the capital guilt-innocence or penalty phase proceedings is a paramount example of a claim requiring an evidentiary hearing for its proper resolution. See O'Callaghan, supra; Squires, supra; Groover v. State, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Provenzano's claim that he was denied a professionally adequate pretrial mental health evaluation and comptency determination due to

failures on the part of counsel and the court-appointed mental health professionals is also a traditionally-recognized Rule 3.850 evidentiary claim, **see** Mason, supra; Sireci, supra; of, Groover v. State, supra. Numerous other evidentiary claims requiring a full and fair hearing for their proper resolution were also presented by Mr. Provenzano's Rule 3.850 motion.

In <u>O'Callaghan</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court recognized that a hearing was required because facts necessary to the disposition of an ineffective assistance claim were not "of record." See also Vausht v. State, 442 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1983). This Court has therefore not hesitated to remand Rule 3.850 cases for required evidentiary hearings. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1984); <u>Vaught</u>, <u>supra</u>; Lemon, <u>supra</u>; <u>Squires</u>, <u>supra</u>; Gorham, <u>supra</u>; Smith v. State, 382 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1980); <u>McCrae</u> v. State, 437 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1983); LeDuc v. State, 415 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1982); Demps v. State, 416 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1982); Aranso v. State, 437 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 1983). These cases control: Mr. Provenzano was (and is) entitled to an evidentiary hearing, and the trial court's summary denial of his Rule 3.850 motion was erroneous.

#### ARGUMENT II

MR. PROVENZANO'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE ABROGATED BECAUSE HE WAS FORCED TO UNDERGO CRIMINAL JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ALTHOUGH HE WAS NOT LEGALLY COMPETENT.

In his Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Provenzano alleged that he was not competent to undergo trial in 1984. Mr. Provenzano proffered

the report of Dr. Pat Fleming, an eminently qualified mental health practitioner who reviewed all of the background information regarding Mr. Provenzano to which the experts retained at the time of trial did not have access and who conducted the testing which was not conducted at the time of trial and which was required for a professionally adequate forensic evaluation of a mentally ill defendant such as Mr. Provenzano. Dr. Fleming's report discussed what a professionally adequate and competent evaluation of Mr. Provenzano reflects: that Mr. Provenzano was not competent. In denying Mr. Provenzano's Mason claim, however, the lower court stated: "Defendant's motion does not allege that his past history evidences mental retardation, organic brain damage or epilepsy." (PC-R. 448). These are not the criteria for competency. Mental deficits such as those from which Mr. Provenzano suffered at the time of trial are evaluated in the context of the eleven factors set forth in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.211. Dr. Fleming appropriately evaluated these factors. The experts appointed at the time of trial did not. They received little of the relevant background information and conducted none of the necessary testing. Under Mason, an evidentiary hearing was required to properly assess this fact-based claim. The lower court erred in failing to conduct one.

At the time of his trial in 1984, Mr. Provenzano was plagued by his long-standing mental disorders. He was besieged by a chronic paranoia disorder in such a way that he could not deal with counsel or aid in his own defense. His chronic vigilance, expectation of trickery or harm, overconcern with hidden meanings or motives, <u>inter alia</u>, and psychosis rendered him unable to consult with his lawyer with any rational or factual degree of understanding. His ability to relate to his attorney and plan a rational defense was essentially non-existent.

Defense counsel's motion, prior to trial, set out the reasons why he questioned Mr. Provenzano's competency:

- a. Defendant, although apparently in agreement with counsel at the time of conferences, often fails to follow counsel's advice.
- b. Defendant has stated that he intends to take actions at the trial that otherwise would not be in his best interests or in the interest of justice and will not dissuade from same.
- c. The mental health expert retained on behalf of the Defendant has advised counsel that Defendant's competency is questionable at best.

(R. 2766). A competency hearing was held prior to trial, at a time when Mr. Provenzano was represented by "temporary counsel," Mr. Horneffer.<sup>3</sup> Mr. Horneffer had made it absolutely clear that he had no intention of representing Mr. Provenzano at trial, and was actively seeking to be allowed to withdraw from the case. Eventually "permanent" counsel was appointed, but ineffectively did not seek to reopen the question of competency. The only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Mr. Provenzano's counsel at trial was Jack Edmund.

witnesses called at the competency hearing were the State's psychiatrists, Dr. Wilder and Dr. Kirkland. Both witnesses found Mr. Provenzano competent to stand trial although Dr. Kirkland's report expressed the opinion that "Mr. Provenzano suffers from serious emotional disturbance," (R. 2791).

A third psychiatrist retained at the time, Dr. Pollack, stated:

[S]hould his attorney ever offer a negative comment, I believe that Mr. Provenzano could become quite violent, or could become rather secretive and unresponsive to his attorney. For the time being, however, I do feel that Mr. Provenzano is competent to stand trial and can actively participate in all of the litigation Caution should be taken, however, processes. that Mr. Provenzano represents an individual who is extremely violent and labile and during any courtroom procedure. is most probably going to lose control, and become assaultive to any individuals, particularly those in uniforms.

(emphasis added). None of this was developed by defense counsel at the time of trial. <u>Cf</u>, <u>Pridgen v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 951 (Fla. 1988).

It is also fairly obvious from the reports of Dr. Wilder and Dr. Kirkland that they did not follow the statutory guidelines enumerated in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 3.211.

Although Drs. Wilder and Kirkland were questioned about the statutory criteria at the competency hearing itself, neither gave any basis for their opinion other than a cursory "yes" or "no" regarding the criteria. This is far from a proper assessment.

Cf. Muhammad v. State, 494 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1984) (expert's

competency evaluation must properly assess defendant's functioning under the statutory criteria).

Even Dr. Pollack's report did not follow the statute. However, his repeated warning that Mr. Provenzano could become "violent with his attorney," that "during any courtroom procedure, is most probably going to lose control," and that he could become "assaultive", "unresponsive to his attorney" and "secretive" are clear indications that Mr. Provenzano fell short of meeting the criteria set forth in Rule 3.211. Counsel's failure to develop this information with his expert, or to subject the State's experts to adequate cross-examination as to the basis for their opinions, was unreasonable performance and prejudiced Mr. Provenzano by causing him to undergo judicial proceedings although he was not competent to do so.

Dr. Fleming's evaluation, involving proper testing,4 considering the client's history,<sup>5</sup> and employing Rule 3.211's criteria,<sup>6</sup> explained:

In considering Mr. Provenzano's competency to stand trial, the single most important consideration is that this defendant's paranoia and delusional system is of such a severity that it cannot be viewed as reversible. At the time of the shooting, he was so disorganized that he lacked responsibility for his acts and was obviously not in control.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Something the experts then appointed did not do at the time of trial.

<sup>5&</sup>lt;sub>Ibid</sub>.

<sup>6</sup>Ibid.

At the time of the trial, his paranoia and the accompanying delusional system would still be present. Due to this very intricate, complex and elaborate system Mr. Provenzano knew without question that everyone in the legal system was involved in a plot against him. This belief would so affect his ability to perceive facts that he would be ineffective. Delusions of grander caused him to view himself as having unique and superior abilities. As a result, he would also be unable to utilize the skill and expertise of his attorneys. Periodically, the attorneys would be viewed by this defendant as an integral part of the delusion and he would have to "trick" them during the trial.

In paranoid thinking, ability is not diminished as is the case in mental retardation. Mr. Provenzano is fully capable of intricate reasoning. The problem is that the reasoning is not rational or reasonable. Mr. Provenzano would be able to state the charges against him, but he would believe they were manufactured by the legal system or that he was completely justified in his actions, given the plot to harm him.

He would be able to communicate with his attorneys, but would be unable to understand their perspective. His cooperation would be akin to the blind man describing the elephant.

At the time of the trial, Mr. Provenzano:

- 1. Would intellectually understand the seriousness of the charges, but would not accept that he had committed a crime since he believes the legal system was out to harm him and homosexual conspiracy exists. <u>In my opinion</u>, Thomas Provenzano would not be in appreciation of the charses.
- 2. Would be able to recite the range and nature of possible penalties, but would not connect these penalties with his act since he would believe that he was acting in a rational manner, given the conspiracy and intent to harm him by the legal system. In my opinion, Thomas Provenzano would not

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