IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS HARRISON PROVENZANO,

Appellant,

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

The state would begin by saying that it finds the circuit court's summary denial of Claims 111, IX, XI, XII, XIII, XVII, XVIII, XIX, XX, XXI and XXII to be certainly the correct <u>result</u>. With no disrespect to the circuit court, however, the state must on occasion differ as to the precise bases for the findings of procedural default, even though such ultimate result is correct. In light of <u>Harris v. Reed</u>, _____ U.S. ___, 109 S.Ct. 1038 (1989), the state would respectfully request that this court's finding of procedural default be explicit and unmistakable, in that Provenzano should not be allowed to secure federal review of issues which he improperly presented in state court. Each of the claims will now addressed:

<u>CLAIM 111</u>: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his convictions and sentences must be reversed because the trial court refused to grant a motion for change of venue. Under Florida law, this is clearly a claim which must be raised on appeal, as opposed to 3.850 motion. <u>See, Mills v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1987); <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1983); <u>Henderson v. Duqqer</u>, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). Additionally, although Provenzano does not acknowledge it, this claim was raised on direct appeal, and the Supreme Court of

- 57 -

Florida, while noting its lack of preservation, alternatively addressed the merits, and found that Provenzano had not been deprived of a fair trial. <u>See</u>, <u>Provenzano v. State</u>, **497** So.2d at **1181-3.** The circuit court was correct in recognizing that this claim had been raised on appeal. This **claim** is **procedurally defaulted.**

<u>CLAIM IX</u>: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his convictions and sentences must be reversed because alleged critical portions of his trial were held in his absence. The Florida Supreme Court has expressly held that claims of this nature must be presented on direct appeal, and are not cognizable on 3.850. <u>See</u>, <u>Blanco v. Wainwright</u>, 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987); <u>Mills v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1987); <u>Henderson v. Dugger</u>, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). The circuit court was correct in recognizing that this claim should have been raised on appeal. This claim is procedurally defaulted.

CLAIM XI: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his convictions and sentences must be reversed because of an allegedly insufficient admonition given the jury upon release from sequestration. This clearly represents a matter which should have been raised on direct appeal, <u>see</u>, <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983), and, thus, is not cognizable on 3.850. The circuit court's order is not precise as to its disposition of this claim. Nevertheless, this claim clearly represents a matter which should have been raised on appeal. This claim is procedurally defaulted. <u>CLAIM XII</u>: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his sentence of death must be reversed because the jury was allegedly told during the penalty phase not to consider sympathy. This clearly represents a matter which should have been raised on direct appeal and, thus, is not cognizable on 3.850. <u>See</u>, <u>Henderson v. Duqqer</u>, 522 So.2d 335 (Fla. 1988). While the circuit court found that this claim had been raised on appeal, the state must respectfully disagree, inasmuch as it was not raised on appeal. Because it should have been, the circuit court's ultimate finding of procedural default was correct. This claim is procedurally defaulted.

<u>CLAIM XIII</u>: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his convictions must be reversed because of the admission of an allegedly inflammatory crime scene photograph. This clearly represents a matter which should have been raised on direct appeal and, thus, is not cognizable on 3.850. <u>See, McCrae v.</u> <u>State</u>, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). The circuit court was correct in recognizing that this claim should have been raised on appeal. **This claim is procedurally defaulted**.

CLAIM XVII: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his sentence of death must be reversed because four of the aggravating circumstances found were improperly applied. This is clearly a matter which could and should have been presented on direct appeal, and, thus, is not cognizable on post-conviction motion. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Cave v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1988); <u>Henderson v. Duqger</u>, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). Indeed, Provenzano's attack on the aggravating circumstance relating to

- 59 -

hinderance of a governmental function, section 921.141(5)(g), was specifically raised, and rejected on direct appeal. <u>See</u>, <u>Provenzano</u>, 497 So.2d at 1183-4. The circuit court was correct in recognizing that at least a portion of this claim had been raised on direct appeal; the matters which were not clearly represent arguments which should have been. **This claim is procedurally barred.**

In this claim, Provenzano argues that his CLAIM XVIII: sentence of death must be reverse because through argument, instruction and comment, his jury was allegedly misled as to its role in sentencing in violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 271 (1985). This claim has been raised by virtually every inmate on Death Row, and the Florida Supreme Court has consistently held that it represents a matter which must be raised on direct appeal and, thus, is not cognizable on 3.850. See e.g., Bertolotti v. State, 534 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1988); Clark v. State, 533 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 1988); Cave v. State, 529 So.2d 263 (Fla. 1988). The fact that this claim can be procedurally barred should be beyond dispute, in light of the recent decision by the Supreme Court of the United States in U.S. (109 S.Ct. 1211 (1989). Although Duqqer v. Adams, the circuit court seemed to hold that this claim had been raised on appeal, the state must respectfully disagree, inasmuch as this claim was not raised on appeal. This matter clearly represents one which should have been, and the court's ultimate finding of procedural default is correct. This claim is procedurally defaulted.

CLAIM XIX: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his sentence of death must be reversed because the instructions given the jury allegedly impermissibly shifted the burden of proof on to the defense to prove mitigation. The Florida Supreme Court has consistently held that claims of this nature must be raised on direct appeal and, thus, are not cognizable on 3.850. See, Clark v. State, 533 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 1988); Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). Again, the circuit court would seem to have found that this claim was raised on appeal. The state must respectfully disagree; this claim was not raised on appeal. The court's ultimate finding of procedural default was correct, nevertheless, given the fact that this represents a matter which should have been raised therein. This **claim** is procedurally barred.

CLAIM XX: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his death sentence must be reversed because it was error for this court to find the aggravating circumstance relating to the homicide being cold, calculated and premeditated, under section 921.141(5)(i); Provenzano also argues that the Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987) constitutes a change in law which supports his position. The propriety of the finding of this aggravating circumstance is obviously a matter which could and should have been raised on direct appeal. <u>See</u>, <u>Henderson v. Duqqer</u>, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). Indeed, this matter <u>was</u> raised on direct appeal, and the Florida Supreme Court not only affirmed the finding of this aggravating circumstance, but further held that, even if error had been demonstrated, any

such error would be harmless. <u>Provenzano</u>, 497 So.2d at 1184. Further, as to Provenzano's claim premised upon <u>Rogers</u>, the Florida Supreme Court recently held in <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 14 F.L.W. 176 (Fla. March 28, 1989), that <u>Rogers</u> was not a fundamental change in law, entitled to retroactive application on 3.850 motions, under <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980). The circuit court was correct in recognizing that this claim had been raised on appeal. **This claim is procedurally barred.**

CLAIM XXI: In this claim, Provenzano argues that his death sentence must be vacated because of alleged improper argument by the prosecutor during the penalty phase. It should be clear that this matter represents one which should have been raised on direct appeal, and thus, is not cognizable on 3.850. See, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). In fact, this claim was raised on direct appeal, and rejected by the Florida Supreme Court. <u>Provenzano</u>, 497 So.2d at 1184. The circuit court was correct in recognizing that this claim had been raised on direct appeal. **This claim is procedurally barred.**

CLAIM XXII: In this claim, Provenzano argues that he is entitled to a new trial because the judge who witnessed the shooting, Judge Conser, acted unethically in making pretrial statements to the press. Judge Conser, of course, did not preside over Provenzano's trial, and it is difficult to see the relevance of the above; if Provenzano truly feels that the judge acted unethically, his remedy is not under Rule 3.850. To the extent that any claim of legal error is involved, such would seem to represent a matter which should have been raised on direct appeal and, thus, would not be cognizable on 3.850. See, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). The circuit court was correct in recognizing that this represents a matter which should have been raised on appeal. This claim is procedurally barred.

In conclusion, the state suggests that, while the finding of procedural default was correct as to all these claims, this court should, in affirming the court below, find, in accordance with its precedents, that Claims 111, XX, XXI and part of XVII represent matters which were actually raised on appeal, and, thus, were improperly represented on post-conviction motion. Similarly, this court should find that Claims IX, XI, XII, XIII, XVIII, XIX, XXII and the remainder of XVII represent matters which should have been raised on appeal, but which were not; they, of course, likewise represent matters which are not cognizable on post-conviction motion. The state apologizes for what may be regarded for what may be regarded as "nitpicking" in this regard, but given the exactitude now required under <u>Harris</u> <u>v. Reed</u>, supra, feels that it has no option.

POINT IV

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF CLAIMS I, XIV, XV AND XVI, WHICH RAISED CLAIMS BASED UPON FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.851, <u>BRADY V. MARYLAND</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), <u>HITCHCOCK V. DUGGER</u>, 481 U.S. 393; 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987) and <u>BOOTH V. MARYLAND</u>, 486 U.S. 482, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987) RESPECTIVELY, WAS CORRECT.

In addition to the procedurally-barred claims discussed in Point 111, supra, the circuit court likewise denied relief as to Claims I, XIV, XV and XVI. The circuit court regarded Claim XVI, that premised upon Booth v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 482, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), as properly presented, but as one which established, at most, harmless error. The circuit court would not seem to have expressly addressed Claim I, involving Florida Rule of Criminal , Procedure 3.851, although in its order, it seems to find the instant motion untimely under the rule. The circuit court also regarded Claim XIV, involving Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), as representing a matter which should have been raised on appeal, and disposed of Claim XV, allegedly involving <u>Hitchcock v.</u> Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987), on the grounds that it had already been presented on appeal. As with certain portions of Point 111, supra, the state cannot agree with all of these findings. While the correct result was reached, the state, in light of Harris v. Reed, supra, would set forth the following argument.

Claims I and XIV do not merit extended discussion. While there would not seem to have been any basis to find the instant motion untimely, given the fact that the "two year" provision of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 does not begin to run until the denial of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court, <u>see</u>, Burr v. State, 518 So,2d 903 (Fla. 1987), Provenzano's claim of being "deprived" of fifteen (15) days within which to file his post-conviction motion, which he otherwise would have had, except for the death warrant, is without merit, in light of this court's decision in Cave v. State, 529 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1988). Additionally, Provenzano's argument is moot, inasmuch as the circuit court did not deny relief until April 25, 1989, several days beyond what would have been the "two year" mark, and in the interim, Provenzano made no attempt to amend or supplement his motion. As to the claim allegedly premised upon Brady v. Maryland, supra, while such claims are cognizable on post-conviction motion, see, e.g., Palmes v. Wainwright, 460 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1984), the instant claim is insufficient on its face, being entirely speculative in nature. Additionally, the instant case is an unlikely one for a claim of this nature, given the fact that the defendant did not dispute his factual guilt of the offense, a reasonable choice given the fact that he committed this crime in front of eyewitnesses, and instead raised a defense of insanity. It is difficult to see how the state could have withheld material evidence in this respect.

As to Claim XV, the state recognizes that "true" claims premised upon Hitchcock v. Dugger, supra, are, of course, cognizable on post-conviction motion. See e.g., Hall v. State, 14 F.L.W. 101 (Fla. March 9, 1989). The circuit court, however, was correct in recognizing this claim for what it was - not a "true" Hitchcock claim, but rather a "rehash" of the argument presented on direct appeal. The state would respectfully suggest that a "true" Hitchcock claim is limited to those instances in which a reasonable doubt exists as to whether the jury and/or the judge was aware of the fact that they could consider mitigating factors outside the statute. In this case, the jury was expressly advised that they could consider "any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, or any other circumstance of the offense." (R 2229) This court has held that the giving of this instruction not only "moots" any Hitchcock claim as to the jury, but also as to the judge, given the fact that it will be presumed that the judge will follow his own instructions. See Johnson v. Dugger, 520 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1988). In this case, though, it is not necessary to rely on this presumption. The judge stated, both at the imposition of sentence and in his sentencing order, that he had considered all the evidence presented (R 3453-4, 2313). Further, the sentencing order includes the following language, placed after the court's address of the statutory mitigating circumstances,

> There are no other aspects of the Defendant's character or record, nor any other circumstances of the offense, which would mitigate in

favor of the Defendant or his conduct in this matter (R 3460).

The conclusion of the sentencing order begins,

There are no mitigating circumstances existing, either statutory or otherwise, . . . (R 3460)

Accordingly, any claim premised upon Hitchcock is refuted by the record. The state would suggest, however, that this does not represent a "true" Hitchcock claim, but rather an attempt to relitigate matters presented on direct appeal, due simply to Provenzano's continued dissatisfaction with the sentence imposed. This court held on direct appeal that the nonstatutory mitigating factors which Provenzano felt applied to his case were not "supported by the record." Provenzano, 497 So.2d at 1184. It is difficult to see how the advent of the Hitchcock decision could have any affect upon this holding. It is also difficult to see why this claim should be relitigated under Hitchcock, given this finding on direct appeal. Cf. Daugherty v. State, 533 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1988). Given the five strong aggravating circumstances, any error would be harmless, in any event. See, Delap v. Duqqer, 513 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1987); Booker v. Dugger, 520 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1988); Ford v.State, 522 So.2d 345 (Fla. 1988); Smith v. Dugger, 529 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1988). No relief is warranted as to this claim assuming, of course, that, stripped of its Hitchcock finery, it is not procedurally defaulted.

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